ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The trial court erred by rejecting Mr. Hancock' s proposed jury
instruction. 

2. The court should have instructed jurors on the state' s burden to show

that Mr. Hancock' s risk of re -offense exceeds 50%. 

3. The court' s instructions failed to make the relevant legal standard

manifestly clear to the average juror. 

ISSUE 1: Instructions must make the relevant legal standards

manifestly clear to the average juror. Did the court' s
instructions fail to make manifestly clear the state' s burden to
show a risk of recidivism exceeding 50%? 

4. The trial court improperly commented on the evidence in violation of
Wash. Const. art. IV, § 16. 

5. Mr. Hancock' s civil commitment infringed his right to due process

because the court' s instruction relieved the state of its burden to prove

an element required for commitment. 

6. The trial court improperly removed from the jury the determination of
whether or not Mr. Hancock had previously been convicted of a
crime of sexual violence." 

7. The trial court erred by instructing jurors that first degree child rape
and indecent liberties with a child under 14 are " crimes of sexual

violence." 

8. The trial court erred by giving Instruction No. 6. 

9. Instruction No. 6 failed to make the relevant standard manifestly clear
to the average juror. 

ISSUE 2: A judge may not comment on the evidence. Did the
trial judge comment on the evidence by telling jurors that Mr. 
Hancock' s prior offenses were " crimes of sexual violence" as a

matter of law? The trial court erred by admitting Ex. 44 over
defense objection. 

10. The evidence was insufficient for commitment. 



11. The state failed to prove Mr. Hancock is currently dangerous. 

12. The state erroneously relied on Mr. Hancock' s lifetime risk of
engaging in predatory acts of sexual violence. 

ISSUE 3: Only those who are currently dangerous qualify for
civil commitment. Did the state fail to prove current

dangerousness because it relied exclusively on evidence that
Mr. Hancock' s lifetime risk of recidivism exceeds 50%? The

trial should have excluded Ex. 44 because it was irrelevant and

unduly prejudicial. 

13. The trial court erred by admitting Ex. 44. 

14. The probative value of Ex. 44 was substantially outweighed by the
danger of unfair prejudice under ER 403. 

ISSUE 4: Evidence is not admissible if it is irrelevant or if its

probative value is outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice. 
Did the court err by admitting a diagram that was not
proportionate to available data, and which suggested Mr. 

Hancock is far more likely to reoffend than predicted by his
actuarial score? 

15. The trial court denied Mr. Hancock his statutory and due process right
to the effective assistance of counsel. 

16. The trial judge erred by failing to inquire into the extent of the conflict
between Mr. Hancock and his attorney. 

ISSUE 5: A person facing civil commitment has a statutory
and a constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel. 

Did the trial court' s failure to inquire into the attorney-client
relationship violate Mr. Hancock' s statutory and due process
right to counsel? 

17. Prosecutorial misconduct deprived Mr. Hancock of his Fourteenth

Amendment right to due process. 

18. The state committed misconduct that was flagrant and ill -intentioned. 

19. The state committed misconduct by " testifying" to " facts" that were
not in evidence. 

ISSUE 6: A prosecutor commits misconduct by " testifying" to
facts" not properly admitted into evidence. Did the Assistant
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Attorney General commit flagrant and ill -intentioned
misconduct by " testifying" to " facts" that suggested Mr. 
Hancock could not live safely in the community? 



STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

1. After the state filed a petition to indefinitely commit George Hancock, 
he cooperated openly and honestly with the state' s expert. 

After serving a 14 -year prison sentence, George Hancock found

himself facing indefinite commitment to the Special Commitment Center. 

CP 3, 91. He cooperated with an evaluation performed by Dr. Richard

Packard, participating fully in two rounds of psychological testing and

more than six hours of interviews. CP 15, 56. 

Dr. Packard described him as open and non -defensive, and said he

had been " maturing and doing better, at least in recent years." RP 1012. 

Mr. Hancock also submitted to a video deposition at the state' s request. 

CP 344- 574. 

Mr. Hancock participated in another evaluation performed by Dr. 

Christopher Fisher. CP 715; RP 1081. Dr. Fisher found that Mr. Hancock, 

despite mental health problems, is no longer predisposed to offend. RP

1089, 1101- 1103, 1110, 1118. 

As a result, Dr. Fisher did not believe that Mr. Hancock had a

mental abnormality." RP 1119. Dr. Fisher also said that Mr. Hancock' s

antisocial personality disorder had diminished with age and maturity, and

concluded that it was insufficient to justify commitment. RP 1110- 1116. 

C! 



Dr. Fisher also assessed Mr. Hancock' s risk of reoffending. At

trial he explained to the jury that he understood the word " likely" to mean

greater than 50%. RP 1089, 1119. He opined that Mr. Hancock had

changed since his last offense ( in 1999), and was not likely to reoffend. 

RP 1095, 1101- 1104, 1110, 1118, 1119, 1129, 1135- 1137. 

2. Mr. Hancock moved to exclude the state' s " bullseye" exhibit because

it was irrelevant and unduly prejudicial. 

Prior to trial, defense counsel asked the court to exclude Exhibit

44. RP 30- 31. The exhibit shows a series of concentric circles, purporting

to compare the number of sex offenses actually committed to the number

resulting in arrest, charge, and conviction. 
i

Ex. 44. The exhibit looked

like this: 

Ex. 44 ( See Appendix for

full-sized image). 

Another circle purportedly represents the number of sex offenses reported. Ex. 44. The
number reported is apparently not taken into account by the Static 99R or other instruments
relied upon by the experts. 
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The radius of Exhibit 44' s outer circle (" All Sex Offenses

Committed") is approximately eight times the radius of the inner circle

Convicted"). Ex. 44.
E

The inner circle" Convicted" is bright red. 

Ex. 44. 

The exhibit is not limited to predatory acts of sexual violence. Ex. 

44. Instead, it compares the numbers for "All Sex Offenses," including

those committed by family members. Ex. 44. 

Dr. Packard did not prepare the exhibit, and did not disclose who

had prepared it. RP 783. He could not provide the numbers underlying

the size of any of the circles, including those at the center of the bullseye. 

RP 783- 785.
3

Dr. Packard testified that the outer circle, representing " All Sex

Offenses Committed" was not based on any number " in the research." RP

783; Ex. 44. He went on to describe it as " an unknown number," and

acknowledged it was not based on " information that could be available

2 A comparison of the area of the outer and inner circles makes it seem that only one out of
every 64 sex offenses results in conviction. Ex. 44. Nothing in the record supports this
suggestion. 

3 Although he knew where to find the data for the inner circles, he could not relate it to the
court. RP 784- 785. 
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through governmental sources and the like." RP 785- 786.
4

When asked if

the exhibit were " proportionate to the data," he told the court that " it' s

pretty much impossible to give a proportionate number." RP 790. 

Based on this, the court admitted the exhibit for illustrative

purposes. RP 790. 

Dr. Packard relied on Ex. 44 during his testimony to suggest that

the Static 99R and other actuarial measures underreport the risk of re - 

offense. RP 882- 884. He did not imply at any time that predatory acts of

sexual violence are underreported. Nor did he attempt to relate any aspect

of Exhibit 44 to predatory acts of sexual violence. RP 690- 1030, 1362- 

1409. 

In closing, the prosecutor also relied on Ex. 44. RP 1451. She

described Mr. Hancock as " a perfect example that the vast majority of sex

offenses go unreported and that these [ actuarial estimates] are

underestimates." RP 1451. She finished her discussion of the exhibit by

saying that " Mr. Hancock has hit that bull' s- eye over and over and over

again through the course of his history." RP 1452. 

4 He later said that the outer circle was an estimate based on crime victim' s surveys, and said
that such estimates " have their limitations." RP 784. He reiterated this, and noted that one

limitation was the survey' s failure to include children under age 12. RP 786. He did not
describe the survey methodology or indicate that any effort had been made to verify survey
responses. RP 783- 790. 
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3. The state relied on evidence of Mr. Hancock' s lifetime risk to prove

that he qualified for commitment. 

Dr. Packard testified that he assessed Mr. Hancock' s risk " for the

rest of his whole life." RP 949. He told jurors " That' s the statutory

question." RP 949. He concluded that Mr. Hancock was " more likely than

not to engage in acts of predatory sexual violence." RP 936. He did not

make any reference to the state' s obligation to show a greater than 50% 

risk.' RP 690- 1030, 1362- 1409. 

In closing, the state' s attorney directed jurors to Dr. Packard' s

testimony about lifetime risk: 

The question [ Dr. Packard] has to look at here is whether Mr. 

Hancock is going to re -offend in his lifetime. So it's not just in the
next 5, 10, or 15 years. 

RP 1451. 

The AAG also told jurors that three years of supervision was "[ n] ot a lot

when you' re looking at a lifetime of potential re -offense." RP 1454. 

4. Mr. Hancock acknowledged his offense history and told jurors about
his release plan. 

Mr. Hancock testified, and told jurors that he' d been raped by his

grandfather when he was only seven years old. RP 1344. His own

offending grew out of that incident. RP 1344. He admitted that he could

5 In his written report, Dr. Packard indicated that Mr. Hancock' s Static 99R score resulted in
a risk level below 50%. CP 46. 

1. 



not remember all the children he' d abused, starting from when he was 8

and ending in 1988 when he was 23. RP 1345. He committed his only

subsequent offense in 1999.
6

RP 1345- 1346. 

He told the jury he planned to live on his mother' s property, and

that he' d be wearing an ankle bracelet during his three years of

supervision. RP 1355- 1356. He testified that his family knew he shouldn' t

be around children, and had agreed to keep children from the residence. 

RP 1351. His mother and sister confirmed that he would be living with

them, that they were aware of his offense history (although he' d spared

them specific details), and that they would not have any children visit the

home. RP 1031- 1055. 

5. The court refused to instruct on the Supreme Court' s 50% standard, 

and prohibited Dr. Fisher from explaining the legal standard to the
jury. 

Mr. Hancock proposed a single jury instruction, asking that jurors

be instructed on the state' s burden to prove a greater than 50% risk of re - 

offense: 

The term more likely than not as used in these instructions means
that the probability of respondent' s reoffending exceeds 50
percent. 

6O the witness stand, Mr. Hancock admitted for the first time that he' d molested the victim

of his 1999 conviction. RP 677- 685. He explained that he' d consistently refused to admit
guilt because he' d been charged with (and later convicted of) rape instead ofmolestation; he

thought that if he admitted to molestation, everyone would believe he' d committed rape_ RP

683- 684. 
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CP 743. 

His attorney argued that the instruction was necessary because jurors

would be prejudiced against Mr. Hancock from the outset and would have

too much " room for them to wiggle in their minds about what ` likely' or

more likely' means." RP 34. He expressed concern about " the emotional

nature of the case" and asked that the court instruct jurors on the 50% 

standard as a " reasonable step... to avoid a finding that any level of risk is

sufficient enough of a probability for commitment." CP 163. 

Counsel went on to argue that the standard " should be more

precisely stated along the lines that the Supreme Court said." RP 34. He

hoped to stop jurors " from making a bad call, essentially... [ T] here is a

real possibility that any sense of risk is going to cause a negative finding

by this jury." RP 35. 

In its response, the state argued that the " more probably than not" 

standard does not necessarily equate to a risk level greater than 50%. CP

575- 576. 

The court refused to give the instruction. RP 32- 35. The judge

reasoned that courts have " utilized the ` more probably true than not' 

standard for centuries without definition in terms of percentage." RP 34. 

At the AAG' s request, the court prohibited the defense expert from

10



explaining that the law required a risk greater than 50%.' RP 35- 38; CP

101- 102, 576. 

Dr. Fisher discussed the 50% standard during his testimony. RP

1089, 1119. In keeping with the court' s limitation, he did not suggest that

the law required a risk level greater than 50%; instead, he told jurors that

he took the word " likely" to mean greater than 50%. RP 1119. Dr. 

Packard did not discuss the 50% standard. RP 690- 1030, 1362- 1409. 

In closing, neither party mentioned the 50% standard to the jury. 

RP 1422- 1517. 

6. The court instructed jurors that Mr. Hancock' s prior sexually
violent offenses qualified as " crimes of sexual violence" as a

matter of law. 

The trial court defined the phrase " sexually violent predator" to

mean, inter alia, a person who " has been convicted of or charged with a

crime of sexual violence." CP 1081. The judge did not provide the jury

with an instruction explaining the phrase " crime of sexual violence." CP

1074- 1098. 

In its elements instruction, the court instructed jurors (in relevant

part) as follows: 

7
However, the court did allow counsel to try and convince jurors to use the 50% standard. 

RP 35- 38. 
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To establish that George Edward Hancock, Jr. is a sexually violent
predator, the State must prove each of the following elements
beyond a reasonable doubt: ( 1) That George Edward Hancock, Jr. 

has been convicted of a crime of sexual violence, namely Rape of a
Child in the First Degree or Indecent Liberties with a Child Under

the Age of 14... 

CP 1082. 

Neither party objected to this instruction. 

7. The state' s attorney made arguments that were not supported
by evidence introduced at trial. 

In closing, the AAG suggested that Mr. Hancock had tailored his

testimony, fabricating information that he had never said before. 

The state claimed that Mr. Hancock said " for the first time" that he

hadn' t offended between 1988 and 1999, and that this was " the first time

we ever heard of that." RP 1446. The AAG also claimed that Mr. 

Hancock' s testimony that DOC planned to have him wear an ankle

bracelet while on supervision was the " first time we've ever heard that." 

RP 1446. 

No evidence showed that Mr. Hancock hadn' t made these

statements before. During the presentation of evidence, the parties

introduced only limited portions of Mr. Hancock' s 6+ hours of interviews

with Dr. Packard, his interviews with Dr. Fisher, and his pretrial

deposition. RP 656- 657, 666, 667, 690- 1030, 1066- 1272, 1358, 1362- 

1409. 
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The state' s attorney also argued that Mr. Hancock' s mother and

sister didn' t " know his offense history" and had " no clue as to what he has

done." RP 1455. In fact, both had testified they were familiar with his

offense history. RP 1033, 1035- 1037, 1044, 1049- 1050. 

Finally, the AAG claimed Mr. Hancock' s mother and sister

believed " it' s ok [for him] to be around kids as long as adults are present." 

RP 1456. Neither had taken this position in their testimony.
8

RP 1031- 

1055. Mr. Hancock also confirmed that his family knew he could not be

around children. RP 1351. 

8. The jury found for the state, and the court entered an order committing
Mr. Hancock indefinitely. 

During deliberations, the jury sent out a request for clarification

regarding Instruction No. 9: 

We " may only consider placement conditions." The " placement

conditions" are unclear to us at this time. 

CP 1071. 

The court responded by reminding them " to consider the instructions as a

whole." CP 1071. Jurors also asked what impact Mr. Hancock' s brother' s

presence would have on his release plan. CP 1073. The court directed

a In her deposition, Mr. Hancock' s sister had stated her belief that Mr. Hancock would not
offend against children in a public place such as a supermarket. RP 1051. 

13



them to consider only the evidence admitted and the court' s instructions. 

CP 1073. 

The jury returned a verdict finding Mr. Hancock a sexually violent

predator. CP 1099. The court entered an order committing him to the

Special Commitment Center, and Mr. Hancock timely appealed. CP 1100, 

1107. 

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT SHOULD HAVE INSTRUCTED JURORS ON THE STATE' S

BURDEN TO PROVE THAT MR. HANCOCK' S RECIDIVISM RISK

EXCEEDS 50%. 

Dr. Fisher testified that Mr. Hancock' s risk of recidivism fell

below 50%. RP 1089, 1119, 1129, 1139. Dr. Packard testified that Mr. 

Hancock' s lifetime risk made him " more likely than not" to reoffend over

the course of his life. RP 936, 949. Mr. Hancock asked the court to

instruct jurors on the state' s burden to prove a recidivism risk exceeding

50%. CP 163, 742- 743; RP 34- 35. The government objected, and the

court refused. RP 35- 38; CP 575- 576, 1074- 1098. 

Jury instructions must " do more than adequately convey the law." 

State v. Watkins, 136 Wn. App. 240, 241, 148 P.3d 1112 ( 2006). They

must make the applicable legal standards " manifestly clear to the average

juror." Id. 

14



Here, the court' s instructions did not make the applicable standard

manifestly clear." Id. Civil commitment requires proof "that ` the

probability of the defendant's reoffending exceeds 50 percent."' In re Det. 

ofPost, 170 Wn.2d 302, 310, 241 P. 3d 1234 ( 20 10) ( quoting In re Det. of

Brooks, 145 Wn.2d 275, 298, 736 P. 3d 1034 ( 200 1) overruled on other

grounds by In re Det. of Thorell, 149 Wn.2d 724, 72 P. 3d 708 ( 2003)). An

instruction that is " manifestly clear" would have communicated the 50% 

standard. 

Instead of instructing jurors on the 50% standard, the court elected

to use the statutory language without further elaboration. CP 1085. But

the statutory phrase " more probably than not" is not manifestly clear. 

Indeed, the Supreme Court feels the need to use the phrase " 50 percent" to

explain the phrase " more probably than not", rather than allowing it to

speak for itself. Post, 170 Wn.2d at 310; Brooks, 145 Wn.2d at 295. 

Furthermore, the state suggested in its briefing that " more probably than

not" does not equate to a likelihood greater than 50%. CP 575- 576. 

By expressing the standard numerically, the Supreme Court

brought greater precision to the state' s burden. 
10

v See State v. Harrington, 181 Wn. App. 805, 821, 333 P.3d 410, review dcnied, 337 P.3d
326 ( Wash. 2014) (" Words, not numbers, arc the material from which legislatures fabricate

statutes... But words arc funny things. We may use a word or phrase to convey one meaning
and the reader or listener may receive a different meaning. Or the reader may question the
meaning or not conceive any meaning.") 

15



Instructions must be manifestly clear because jurors cannot rely on

the rules of interpretation familiar to lawyers and judges. State v. Harris, 

122 Wn. App. 547, 553- 554, 90 P. 3d 1133 ( 2004). Thus, " the standard for

clarity in jury instructions is higher than that for a statute." Id. In other

words, statutory language is not necessarily manifestly clear to the average

juror. Id. 

Jurors should not be required to guess at what is required for

commitment. See State v. Smith, 131 Wn.2d 258, 263, 930 P.2d 917

1997) (" It cannot be said that a defendant has had a fair trial if the jury

must guess at the meaning of an essential element.") Furthermore, in cases

involving an admitted history of sex offenses, every effort should be taken

to remove passion and prejudice from the deliberative process, because in

such cases, the potential for prejudice is at its highest. See State v. 

Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 433, 269 P. 3d 207 ( 2012); State v. Gower, 179

Wn.2d 851, 857- 858, 321 P. 3d 1178 ( 2014). 

The court' s instructions left the jury to guess whether the phrase

more probably than not" has exactly the same meaning as a probability

10
Furthermore, the 50% standard also aligns the statutory language with the kind of expert

testimony presented in most RCW 71. 09 cases. When the jury hears conflicting expert
testimony centering on a 50% likelihood of re -offense, only an instruction referring to that
number qualifies as " manifestly clear." 
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greater than 50%. Mr. Hancock' s proposed instruction would have made

the standard manifestly clear. CP 742.
11

A trial court' s failure to instruct on a party' s theory of the case is

reversible error where there is evidence supporting the theory. Barrett v. 

Lucky Seven Saloon, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 259, 266- 67, 96 P. 3d 386 ( 2004). 

Mr. Hancock' s theory was that his likelihood of engaging in predatory acts

of sexual violence was less than 50%. He presented evidence supporting

this theory. Accordingly, the court should have made the 50% standard

explicit for the jury. Id. 

The commitment order must be reversed and the case remanded for

a new trial with proper instructions. Id.

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