COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of:

GEORGE HANCOCK,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

BROOKE BURBANK Assistant Attorney General WSBA #26680/ OID #91094 Criminal Justice Division 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-3017

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

Hancock was able to admit significant testimony through his expert countering the state's reliance on the actuarials. RP at 1127-77. Hancock's expert, Chris Fischer, acknowledged that it is hard to measure data about sexual assaults and under-reporting. RP at 1267. He

acknowledged that Dr. Karl Hanson, the developer of the Static-99, states clearly that the actuarial results are underestimates because not all offenses are detected. RP at 1268. Fischer admitted "not all offenses are reported. Everyone acknowledges that." RP at 1268.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing Illustrative Exhibit 44 to be used because it was helpful to the jury in understanding Dr. Packard's testimony regarding the reasons why Hancock's actuarial results are an underestimate of his true risk. RP at 789; 882. The prosecutor explained the exhibit in her closing argument. RP at 1451-52.

Hancock's concern that the bull's eye "prejudiced" him is unsupported by facts, and is not the proper question. The correct test is whether its "probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." ER 403. It was not, because the exhibit assisted the expert in explaining his risk assessment, and was subject to cross-exam about all the weaknesses in the numbers. Hancock asserts that there is a reasonable probability that this exhibit materially affected the outcome of the trial. He offers nothing more than this assertion because there is simply no evidence to support this claim. Hancock's trial lasted for over two weeks, with two experts and multiple victims testifying. The jury heard in detail about Hancock's lifelong sexual deviancy, his sexual attraction to children and the numerous young children he had molested. They also heard testimony about the significantly smaller number of charges and

convictions he received. This exhibit represented the uncontested fact that more sexual offenses take place than are charged or convicted. The testimony involving the exhibit was brief – 2 pages out of a 1500 page transcript. Rather than "bolster" the State's case, the exhibit explained the expert's opinion that the actuarial instruments were not an accurate assessment of Hancock's risk. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing it to be used and the commitment should be upheld.

E. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Denying An Untimely And Unsupported Request For A Mistrial

The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied a last-minute request by Hancock to declare a mistrial just before closing argument. His request was based on his claim that that his attorneys had "changed strategy at the last minute." RP at 1421. The trial court was correct to deny Hancock's request. First, there is no hybrid representation in proceedings pursuant to RCW 7.09, and Hancock did not represent himself. The court was not bound to consider a request that didn't come through counsel. Second, his claim was vague and based entirely on a strategic decision of counsel. When the court denied the request because it lacked specificity, Hancock acquiesced and said "OK" rather than explaining any conflict or breakdown in communication. RP at 1422. Third, although Hancock did not make it clear what precise testimony he was referring to, Hancock's attorney was somewhat limited in the way he

could present any further testimony from Hancock because Hancock changed his version of the 1999 offenses mid-way through the trial. And finally, by the time Hancock raised the issue, the entire trial had been completed and all that remained was closing argument. Any conflict between the two would have been irrelevant as the strategy of the closing argument was entirely left up to Hancock's attorney.

1. Differences Of Opinion In Strategy Does Not Amount To A Breakdown In Communication

The granting or denial of a new trial is a matter primarily within the discretion of the trial court, and a trial court's denial of a motion for a new trial will not be reversed on appeal unless there is a clear showing of abuse of discretion. State v. Pete, 152 Wn.2d 546, 552, 98 P.3d 803 (2004); State v. Balisok, 123 Wn.2d 114, 117-18, 866 P.2d 631 (1994). An abuse of discretion occurs when no reasonable judge would have reached the same conclusion. Id. A trial court's denial of a motion for mistrial "will be overturned only when there is a 'substantial likelihood' the prejudice affected the jury's verdict." State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). A criminal defendant who is dissatisfied with appointed counsel must show good cause to warrant substitution of counsel, such as a conflict of interest, an irreconcilable conflict, or a complete breakdown in communication between the attorney and the defendant. Smith v. Lockhart, 923 F.2d 1314, 1320 (8th Cir. 1991).

Attorney-client conflicts justify the grant of a substitution motion only when counsel and defendant are so at odds as to prevent presentation of an adequate defense. *E.g., State v. Lopez,* 79 Wn. App. 755, 766, 904 P.2d 1179 (1995) (citing *United States v. Morrison,* 946 F.2d 484, 498 (7th Cir. 1991)); *United States v. Hillsberg,* 812 F.2d 328, 333 (7th Cir. 1987). The general loss of confidence or trust alone is not sufficient to substitute new counsel. *Johnston v. State,* 497 So.2d 863 (1986).

Applying this test, it is clear the trial court did not abuse its discretion. Hancock has shown no breakdown in communication and nothing more than a slight disagreement regarding strategy.

2. Hancock's Request Was Untimely And Unsupported By Facts

A defendant may not discharge appointed counsel unless the motion is timely and rests upon proper grounds. *Restraint of Stenson*, 142 Wn.2d 710, 732–34, 16 P.3d 1 (2001). *State v. Cross*, 156 Wn. 2d 580, 606, 132 P.3d 80, 92 (2006), *as corrected* (Apr. 13, 2006). When reviewing a trial court's decision, we consider "(1) the extent of the conflict, (2) the adequacy of the [trial court's] inquiry, and (3) the timeliness of the motion." *Id.* at 607, citing *Restraint of Stenson*, 142 Wn.2d at 724, 16 P.3d 1.

a. Extent Of The Conflict

The court correctly determined that Hancock's reasons were insufficient. At the conclusion of the evidentiary portion of the trial, shortly before closing argument, Hancock told the judge he wanted a mistrial due to a disagreement as to strategy with his attorneys. RP at 1421. Hancock was apparently upset about the way his testimony came across, and he said they had spent six months going over it and "they changed it." RP at 1421.

"[T]here is a difference between a complete collapse and mere lack of accord." 156 Wn.2d at 606. *Cf. Morris v. Slappy*, 461 U.S. 1, 13–14, 103 S. Ct. 1610, 75 L. Ed. 2d 610 (1983) (constitution does not require a "meaningful relationship" between attorney and client). "[T]he choice of trial tactics, the action to be taken or avoided, and the methodology to be employed must rest in the attorney's judgment." *State v. Cross*, 156 Wn.2d 580, 606, 132 P.3d 80, 92 (2006), *as corrected* (Apr. 13, 2006) citing *State v. Piche*, 71 Wn.2d 583, 590, 430 P.2d 522 (1967). The State Supreme Court held that an attorney and a client disagreement over trial strategy was not sufficient to find a cognizable conflict even where counsel testified that he "can't stand the sight of" his client. ... [because this] is not the type of conflict with counsel that raises Sixth Amendment concerns. 156 Wn.2d at 609. Instead, this is the type of conflict that courts

generally leave to the attorney and client to work out, absent actual ineffective assistance of counsel. *Id.*

Hancock did not show anything other than the "mere lack of accord" that Cross says is insufficient. Hancock's attorneys did not join in the request, and there was nothing before the court to suggest that the relationship had deteriorated to the point that Hancock and his attorneys were so at odds as to prevent presentation of an adequate defense. Furthermore, Hancock's testimony had indeed changed; but it was his own admissions that had changed. Throughout the course of the proceedings, and for the prior 16 years, Hancock had denied committing the 1999 offense. RP at 676-77. He denied it in his deposition taken under oath a month before the trial. RP at 683. After the prosecutor presented Hancock's deposition testimony, Hancock was called to the stand again, and this time he admitted that he committed the offense, and that he had lied about it all these years. RP at 676-85. Given this change in Hancock's position about his guilt of the 1999 offenses, his attorneys likely had to change strategy. Hancock cannot change his sworn testimony and then try to blame his attorney for the change. The court properly denied the motion.

b. The Court's Inquiry

The court evaluated the representation provided throughout the trial and determined that Hancock's attorneys had more than adequately

represented him. RP at 1421. When the court denied Hancock's request because it lacked specificity, Hancock acquiesced and said "OK" rather than providing specific details or explaining any conflict or breakdown in communication. RP at 1422. Neither of Hancock's attorneys joined in his request or said there was a communication problem, a conflict of interest or anything close. When on the final day of trial, he told the court he was unhappy with his attorneys, the trial court observed that the only thing Hancock was unhappy about was that he was still in court. RP at 1421. Given that all that remained was closing argument, even if Hancock and his attorney's communication had been damaged it would not have affected the closing argument which lies soundly in the strategic decision of the attorney. "[T]he choice of trial tactics, the action to be taken or avoided, and the methodology to be employed must rest in the attorney's judgment." 156 Wn.2d at 606. "Again, strategy decisions are for the attorney. ... Until and unless the disagreement about strategy actually compromises the attorney's ability to provide adequate representation, strategy differences do not violate any constitutional rights held by defendants." Id. at 611. Here there was no compromise of Hancock's attorney's ability to present an adequate closing argument. Hancock failed to provide a basis to support his request and the court correctly denied it.

⁸ The previous day in court, Hancock told the court that he did not wish to remain for the closing argument on the final day. RP at 1412; 1414. The court refused to excuse him. RP at 1413; 1414-15.

c. Timeliness Of The Request.

And lastly, Hancock's request coming at the conclusion of the trial was untimely. Even if Hancock had made an adequate record of the reasons, any breakdown in communication between attorneys and client would have essentially been meaningless at that point in the trial. The testimony was complete and there was no further need to collaborate. All that remained was closing argument, which is within the sole purview of counsel. 156 Wn.2d at 606. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the request after all the evidence had been presented in a lengthy trial.

Hancock argues that *U.S. v. Blackledge*, 751 F. 3d 188 (4th Cir. 2014) holds that the court must inquire into the dissatisfaction with counsel. *Blackledge* is inapposite because it involves repeated requests to withdraw made by counsel rather than the respondent, and based on a clear conflict of interest and communication breakdown. There, during the discovery stage of the proceedings before the trial began, Blackledge's attorney moved the court for permission to withdraw, citing an internal conflict. 751 F.3d at 190. The court denied the motion, which counsel reraised after Blackledge filed a bar complaint against her. *Id.* The motion included specific allegations *from the attorney* that "an internal conflict had arisen and that she could 'no longer continue to ethically represent' Blackledge." *Id.* at 191. She further acknowledged that as a result of her

failing to file a timely motion requesting an expert witness, he no longer trusted her. *Id.* at 191-92. Because Blackledge had filed a bar complaint against her, she felt she had a conflict of interest in further representation. *Id.* at 192. After reviewing the cases pursuant to the federal standard of review for motions to substitute counsel, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals reversed, finding that the court failed to inquire as to the extent of the breakdown asserted on the record by the attorney. "While motions to substitute counsel often arise at the defendant's urging, when the attorney also seeks to withdraw, the court must thoroughly inquire into the factual basis of any conflicts asserted by counsel." 751 F.3d at 194.

Notwithstanding the *Blackledge* court's determination that the motion was untimely when it was filed *three weeks prior* to the trial beginning, the Court of Appeals ultimately determined that, because the attorney had missed a filing deadline that created the animosity between her and her client, the attorney "labored under a conflict of interest that caused her communications with Blackledge to be so broken that a

⁹ In deciding whether a district court has abused its discretion in denying a motion to withdraw or to substitute counsel, we consider three factors: (1) timeliness of the motion; (2) adequacy of the court's inquiry; and (3) "whether the attorney/client conflict was so great that it had resulted in total lack of communication preventing an adequate defense." 751 F.3d at 194 (citing *United States v. Gallop*, 838 F.2d 105, 108 (4th Cir. 1988) (internal citations omitted). If the court abused its discretion, the ruling is subject to harmless error review. *See United States v. Horton*, 693 F.3d 463, 467 (4th Cir. 2012). *Id.*

'fundamental step for adequate representation'—basic trial preparation—failed to occur." 751 F.3d at 197.

Here, Hancock's last minute request — at the conclusion of his trial and without his attorneys' agreement — was properly denied. He failed to articulate any basis for a conflict with his attorneys other than the fact that his testimony changed, yet his attorneys were bound by the fact that Hancock had perjured himself in his deposition and finally admitted his guilt in the 1999 offense when called to the stand by the prosecutor in the middle of the trial. Although the record is unclear, in all probability the change in his testimony required a change in strategy. His attorneys did not ask to be removed nor did they state there had been a breakdown in communication or a conflict. The court had observed several weeks of trial representation of Hancock, and found that the attorneys were working very hard on his behalf. When the request was denied because it lacked specificity, Hancock did not pursue it further. The request was properly denied.

F. The Prosecutor Did Not Commit Misconduct

Hancock raises for the first time on appeal a claim that the prosecutor argued "facts not in evidence" during her closing argument. Because he did not object to these comments at trial, he cannot make the requisite showing that the comments were so ill-intentioned and flagrant and that a curative instruction could not have cured any arising prejudice.

Moreover, the record supports the prosecutor's argument – Hancock can point to no other place in the record where he made this assertion previously. The prosecutor was well within the bounds of proper argument to draw inferences that the facts supported. His claims should be rejected.

G. Hancock Did Not Object To The Prosecutor's Argument

In order to prevail on a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, a defendant is required to show that in the context of the record and all of the circumstances of the trial, the prosecutor's conduct was both improper and prejudicial. *State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 442, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). To show prejudice requires that the defendant show a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury verdict. *Id.; State v. Ish*, 170 Wn.2d 189, 195, 241 P.3d 389 (2010); *State v. Dhaliwal*, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003). Where the defendant does not object to the comments at trial—as is the case here—any claim of error is waived unless the misconduct was "so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice." *In re Det. of McGary*, 175 Wn. App. 328, 343, 306 P.3d 1005, 1013 *review denied*, 178 Wn. 2d 1020, 312 P.3d 651 (2013) (citing *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760–61, 278 P.3d 653 (2012).

Hancock did not object at trial, and has failed to show any misconduct, much less misconduct that was "so flagrant and illintentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting

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